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DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY
45 CFR Part 84

Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Handicap Relating to Health
Care for Handicapped Infants

AGENCY: Office of the Secretary, HHS

ACTION: Proposed Rules

SUMMARY: The notice of proposed rulemaking proposes to modify
existing regulations to meet the exigent needs that can arise
when a handicapped infant is discriminatorily denied food or
medically indicated treatment. Several current regulatory
provisions are proposed to be modified to alloﬁ timely reporting
of violations, expeditious investigation, and immediate
enforcement action when necessary to protect a handicapped
infant whose life is endangered by discrimination in a program
or activity receiving federal financial assistance.

Recipients that provide health care to infants would be
required to post a consplicuous notice in locations that
provide such care, The notice would describe the protections
under federal law against discrimination toward the handicapped,
and would provide a contact point in the Department of HHS
for reporting violations immediately by telephone.

Notic 1 : laf p1 have been effective
instruments for deterrence and enforcement in a variety of
civil rights contexts. The Secretary believes that the
proposed rule provides the best means to ensure that violations

can be reported in time to save.the lives of handicapped



infants who are denied food or are otherwise imperiled by
discrimination in the provision of health care by federally
assisted programs or activities.
In addition to the vigorous federal role in enforcing

the protections of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of
1973, HHS intends to rely heavily on the voluntary cooperation
of State and local agencies, which are closest to the scene
of violations, and which have traditionally played the key
role in the investigation of complaints of child abuse and neglect.

"In this regard, the proposed rule would also formalize
existing responsibilities of child protective services agencies
which receive federal financial assistance to carry out in a
nondiscriminatory manner their authorities under their respective
State laws to prevent instances of neglect of children,
including medical neglect. The proposed rule would require
these recipient agencies to establish written procedures and
methods of administration to assure that handicapped infants
subjected to medical neglect receive necessary child protective
services.

The Secretary invites comments on all aspects of the
proposed rule. Aspects on which comment is particularly
in [f & - th { the supplementary information.
DATES: Comments should be ¢ »>mitt i1 by [ir art a)

date of publication].



ADDRESSES: 'Comments should be submitted in writing to the
Director, Office for Civil Rights, Department of Health and
Human Services, 330 Independence Avenue, S. W., Room 5400,
Washington, D. C. 20201, or delivered to the above address
between 9:00 a.m. and 5:30 p.m. on regular business days.
Comnz 1ts received may be inspected during these same hours by
making arrangements with the contact person shown below.
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Susan Shalhoub at (202)
245-6585, Office for Civil Rights, Department of Health and
Human Services, 330 Independence Avenue, S. W., Room 5514,
Washington, D. C. 20201 (TTY No. - 202-472-2916).
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The President's directive of
April 30, 1982, and the HHS Office for Civil Rights "Notice
to Health Care Providers™ of May 18, 1982, reminded recipients
of federal financial assistance of the applicability of
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. Section 504
provides: "No otherwise qualified handicapped individual. . .
shall, solely by reason of his handicap, be excluded from
participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected
to discrimination under any program or activity receiving
federal financial assi tance."”

¥ th I ric exy " i1ined what is

lready clear from tt ] gu of :don __+ ¢ 1 tb

implementing regulations (45 CFR Part 84): The discriminatory
failure of a health care provider to feed a handicapped

infant, or to provide medical treatment essential
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to correct a life-threatening condition in a program or
activity receiving federal financial assistance, constitutes
a violation of Section 504.

Section 504 requires that health service be provided to
the handicapped "on a basis of equality with those not

handicapped,” Doe v. Colautti, 592 F. 2d 704, 709 (3d Cir.

1979), 1in order to assure "the evenhanded treatment of

qualified handicapped persons.” Southeas*~~n Community

fallees v. Davis, 442 U.S. 397, 410 (1979).
Section 504 is in essence an equal treatment, non-
discrimination standard. Congress patterned Section 504
on Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, which prohibits discrim-
ination based on race. Programs or activities receiving
federal financial assistance may not deny a benefit or service
solely on grounds of a person's handicap, just as they may
not deny a benefit or service on grounds of a person's race.
The Rehabilitation Act of 1973 defines a "handicapped
individual™ as "any person who (i) has a physical or mental
impairment which substantially limits one or more of such
person's major 1life activities,. . . or (iii) is regarded as
having such an impairment.” 29 U.S.C. 706(7)(B). Thus it is
clear that a handicapped infant is an "individual”™ within the
_rot tion c. tb ;o2
protection of the regulation. Nothing in the plain language
of Section 504 or its legislative history provides a basis for

excluding infants from the statutory coverage of "individuals™



The definition of a qualified handicapped person was

clarified by the Supreme Court in Southeastern Community
Collaea v, Davwig, 442 U.S., 397 (1979). 1In that case the

Court addressed the question of whether a nursing school was
prohibited by Section 504 from imposing certain physical
qualifications for admission to its clinical training program.
Noting that Section 504 prohibits discrimination on the basis
of handicap against otherwise qualified handicapped individuals,
the Court focused on the question of whether the plaintiff was
otherwise qualified. It concluded that she was not a qualified
handicapped person because she could not benefit from the
program without fundamental alteration of the program. 1d. at
409-410, As applied in the context of health care to
handicapped infants, Section 504 would hold that where an
infant would not benefit medically from a particular treatment,
the infant would not be "qualified” to receive the treatment;
thus, its denial would not violate Section 504,

Section 504 does not compel medical personnel to attempt
to perform impossible or fut “le acts or therapies. Thus,
Section 504 does not require the imposition of futile therapies
which merely temporarily prolong the process of dying of an
infant born terminally 111, such as a child bornm with
anencephaly or ir r¢ :rami 1 i ) ,
by medical personnel and parents, concerning whether to treat,

and if so, what form the treatment should take, are outside



the scope of Section 504, The Department recognizes that
reasonable medical judgments can differ when evaluating these
difficult, individual cases.

The Department's existing regulations prohibit a recipient
in providing any aid, benefit, or service in a program or
activity receiving federal financial assistance from denying
a qualified handicapped person "the opportunity to participate
in or benefit from the aid, benefit, or service." 45 C.F.R.
84.4(b)(1)(1i). The regulations also prohibit a recipient

from affording a qualified handicapped person "an opportunity

to participate in or benefit from the aid, benefit, or service

that is not equal to that afforded others.” 45 C.F.R. 84.4(b)(1)(1ii)

(emphasis supplied).

Recognizing that Section 504 protects only those infants
who are able to benefit from treatment, the Department's
May 18, 1982 Notice to Health Care Providers explained that a
violation of Section 504 occurs when the treatment is withheld
ise of the existence of a handicap ~-~4 +the handican doe-c

«

not render the treatment medically contraindicated.

Thus, Section 504 simply preserves the decision-making
process customarily undertaken by physicians in any treatment
decision: will the treatment be medically beneficial to the
patient and are thc e 2ne 5 { ri
associated with the treatment? It is only when non-medical
considerations, such as subjective judgments that an unrelated
handicap makes a person's life not worth living, are interjected

in the decision-making process that the Section 504 concerns arise.



Therefore, it is clear that with respect to the vast
ma jority of seriously 111 children who require acute medical
attention, Section 504 will not be applicable because there
will be no issue of decision-making based on subjective
judgments outside the bounds of 1 i1sonable medical judgment.
For example, medical judgments made daily regarding treatment
of premature or low birth weight infants would not typically
involve any considerations which might give rise to concerns
about compliance with Section 504, even though these infants
may be seriously 111 and require intensive medical care.

The judgment Section 504 requires of a physician is a
medical judgment concerning what medical treatment shall be
provided an individual. ©Not all judgments made by a health
care provider, however, are medical judgments. For example,

a judgment not to treat a black infant because of the infant's
race is not a medical Jjudgment. A judgment not to correct an
intestinal obstruction or repair the heart of a Down's syndrome
infant because the infant suffers the handicap of Down's
syndrome is likewise not a medical judgment.

The decision to forego medical treatment of a correctable
114 :hy 1 : be« 1se an infant also suffers from a
permanent, irrem Jiable handic: ¢t t 1is not 11 )
such as mental retardation, 1s a violation of Section 504.

In this context, Section 504 provides that usual and customary

i1 care afforded to non-handicapped infants not be denied



to handicappéd infants when they would benefit from such
treatment. Similarly, where a course of medical care is

usual and customary to correct or ameljiorate a life impairing
condition among a particular class of patients, for example,
such as infants suffering from meningomyelocele (spina bifida),
such beneficial care may not be withheld from an individual
infant because of a subjective judgment that such infants as

a class possess an insufficient quality of life.

While these are often difficult decisions to make, as
well as to review, the standard of customary medical care is
not one unfamiliar in the medical community and the Department
appreciates the standard set forth in the recent Report of
the President's Commission for the Study of Ethical Problems
in Medicine and Biomedical and Behavioral Research, entitled,
"Deciding to Forego Life~Sustaining Treatment.”

The Commission concluded that "a very restrictive standard
is appropriate” in decisions regarding the treatment of
handicapped infants and the Department requests comments on
the following statement of the Commission:

Though inevitably somewhat subjective and imprecise in

actual application, the concept of "benefit"™ excludes

honoring idiosyncratic views that might be allowed if a
nerson were deciding about his or her own treatment. . «

that the handicaps of Down's syndrome, tor exampie, are
not in themselves of this magnitude and do not justify
failing to provide medically proven treatment, such as
surgical correction of a blocked intestinal tract.

This is a very strict standard in that it excludes
consideration of the negative effects of an impaired
child's life on other persons, including parents,
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siblings, and society. Although abiding by this standard
may be difficult in specific cases, it is all too easy

to undervalue the lives of handicapped infants, the
Commission finds it imperative to counteract this by
treating them no less vigorously than their healthy

peers or than older children with similar handicaps

would be treated.

Events of the past several years suggest that handicapped
infants have died from denial of food in federally assisted
programs. The full extent of discriminatory and life-
threatening practices toward handicapped infants is not yet
known, but the Secretary believes that for even a single
infant to die due to lack of an adequate notice and complaint
procedure is unacceptable.

There is a great deal of evidence documenting that the
"very strict standard” advocated by the President's Commission
and the requirements of Section 504 are not being uniformly
followed and that medically indicated treatment is sometimes
withheld from infants with congenital anomalies on the basis
of their handicaps. For example, a 1973 article by Doctors
Duff and Campbell of the Yale-New Haven Hospital documented
that of 299 consecutive deaths occurring in that special care
nursery, 43 (14 percent) were related to withholding treatment.

. tl
documented:

An Infant with Down's syndrome and intestinal atresia,

like the much publicized one at Johns Hopkins Hospital,

was not treated because his parents thought the surgery

was wrong for their baby and themselves. He died several
"1ys a : r bi :h. TA. at 891.
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The Johns Hopkins case became the subject of a documentary
produced by the Joseph P. Kennedy Foundation, excerpts from
which were shown as part of the "Death in the Nursery"”
documentary series presented by a Boston television station
in February 1983. The facts of this particular case cited by
Duff and Campbell were also much like the 1982 Bloomington,
Indiana case cited by President Reagan in his statement of
April 30, 1982, in which an infant with Down's syndrome and a
correctable esophageal atresia was allowed to die.

Another specific case investigated by the HHS Office for
Civil Rights similar to the Yale-New Haven, Johns Hopkins,
and Bloomington cases related to a 1979 death of an infant
with Down's syndrome and an intestinal obstruction at the
Kapiolani~Children's Medical Center in Honolulu, Hawaii. As
a resolution to the complaint, HHS and the hospital, in May
of 1980, agreed to an amendmeﬂt to the hospital's written
consent procedures to assure that cases involving a lack of
parental consent to medically indicated treatment for
handicapped infants be reported to the State child protective
services agency in the same manner as similar cases involving
nonhandicapped children.

In addition to the four documented cases, Yale-New Haven,
< t , L, . tt ) S
cases cited by Duff and Campbell, there is persuasive evidence
that cases involving discriminatory denial of care are not

unique. A 1977 article, "Ethical Issues in Pediatric Surgery,”



60 I jlatrics 588, reported the results of a survey of 400
members of the Surgical Section of the Americ: Academy of
Pediatrics and an additional 308 chairpersons of teaching
departments of pediatrics and chiefs of divisions of neonatology
and gegetics in departments of pediatrics. Responses were
received from 267 of the former group (66.8%Z) and 190 of the

latter (61.72). 1d. at 588-9, Responses were anonymous.

4 )ng the results of the survey were:

-- 76.8% of the pediatric surgeons and 59.5% of the
pediatricians said they would "acquiesce in parents'
decision to refuse consent for surgery in a newborn
with intestinal atresia if the infant also had Down's
syndrome.” I1d. at 590.

== 23,62 of pediatric surgeons and 13.2%Z of pediatricians
would ancanrage parents to refuse consent for treatment
of a newboru with intestinal atresia and Down's syndrome.
Only 3.4% of pediatric surgeons and 15.5% of pediatricians
would get a court order directing surgery 1if the parents
refused. I_d.o at 591-2.

== 63,32 of the pediatric surgeons and 42.6%Z of the
pediatricians said in cases of infants with duodenal
atresia and Down's Syndrome, where they "accept parental
withholding of lifesaving surgery,” they would also
"stop all supportive treatment including intravenous
fluids and nasal gastric suction.”
_Iio at 592"3.

-= 62%Z of all respondents who believe that children with
Down's syndrome “"are capable of being useful and bringing
love and happiness into the home"” would nevertheless
acquiesce in parents' decisions not to allow surgery
for the atresia. Only 72 who so believe indicate that

r v t urt to require su1 cy. . o
These data strongly suggest that instar :s, such as
occurred in Bloomington, Indiana in 1982, in which infants
are denied 1ife-sustaining, medically indicated treatment
£ ly ntt 1 318 [ their handicap cannot be dismissed as

isolat | 7ents.
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For purposes o applying Section 504, it is important to
note that ¢ ly 7.9%Z of Surgical Section members, and only
2.6% of other pediatricians, would acquiesce in parental
refusal to treat intestinal atresia in an infant with no
other anomaly. Their acquiescence in non-treatment of Down's

children is apparently because of the handicap represented by

Down's syndrome. significant number of Surgical Section

m¢ bders indicated that they would do considerably more than
“acquiesce” in parental decisions not to treat: 23.6% said
that, given parents who are indecisive about treatment of a
Down's syndrome infant with intestinal atresia, they w( 1d

A=1w 2 LY ~F Qurairagl

encourage parents =~t to consent,

Sectior members said they would get a court order if parents

refused consent in such sirvations. Moreover, the underlying

rationale of the surgeons' responses appears not to be so

much a deference to parental judgment as a personal view that

Down's syndrome children are not worth having. A large

majority (78.3%Z of surgeons, 88.4% of others) said they would

get a court order directing surgery on a young child with a

treatable malignant tumor whose parents refused consent out

of :lief in faith healing. But when asked, "If you were the
1 vn' 1 1

obstruction, would you consent to intestinal surgery?”, only

27X of surgeons answered "Yes." Other pediatricians responded

53071 .YeS."
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enforcement authorities to prevent such "aist: : i of 1! al
neglect, 1nciuding requirements that medical personnel report
suspected cases to the state child protective services agency,
agency access to medical files, immediate investigations and
authority to compel treatment.

For example, in Appli ~* -~ -° Cicero, 421 N.Y.S5.2d 965
(1970), the child was born with spina bifida. Without an
operation, it was unlikely that the child would live to the
age of six months. The parents elected not to have the
surgery and the court reversed this decision stating:

This is not a case ;here the court is asked to preserve
an existence which cannot be a 1life. What is asked is

that a child born with handicaps be given a reasonable

opportunity to live, to grow, and hopefully to surmount
those handicaps. Id. at 973.

The court further noted the argument that this would
interfere with the parents' rights to control the upbringing
of their child but found that such parental rights are not
absolute "where, as here, a child has a reasonable chance to
live a useful, fulfilled life."” Id. at 968.

The requirement imposed by state law that health care
prov{ “:rs report instances of improper denial of medical care
is no less a part of their program than is the provision of

it =:21f., Both ari : f1 1 tl Ly 's
administering to the :dical int ts { dts 1 t: 1ts.
Section 504 prohibits discrimination on the basis of handicap

in the operation of federally-assisted programs and activities.



Thus, a recipient which as a matter of practice or law reports
to state authorities the withholding of needed medical
treatment from an infant may not deny the same service or
benefit to a qualified handicapped infant because the infant
is handicapped. 45 C.F.R. 84.4(b)(1), 84.52(a).

Accordingly, while recipients may be restricted in their
provision of treatment by the lack of parental consent, it is
no less their obligation to operate their program without
discrimination. This includ 3 the obligation to report to
appropriate officials instar :s of parent 1 refusal to consent
to the provision of necessary, medically i1 iicated treatment
and to cooperate with those officials while continuing to
provide all care not disallowed by the parents,

For quick and effective response to complaints, the
Secretary counts on not only the enforcement resources of the
Federal Government, but also on the assistance of state child
protective agencies, which can respond quickly and effectively
to referrals from the Federal Government, and which are often
closest to the scene for speedy 1 restigation of 1life-
threatening child abuse and neglect. The Secretary intends
to contact state child protective agencies whenever a complaint
is received that falls within the definition of child abuse

| y @ 1

their own investigation and to take appropriate action.
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The Secretary expects that States will follow all
necessary procedures for investigating allegations of child
abuse 1d neglect that involve an imminent danger to life.
State child protective agencies that receive federal financial
asgistance are under the same obligation as other recipients
not to provide a qualified handicapped person with benefits
or services that are less effective than those provided to
otl rs.

To formalize this obligation, the proposed rule would
require each State child protective services agency which
receives federal financial assistance to establish and maintain
written methods of administration and procedures to assure
that the agency utilizes its full authority pursuant to State
law to prevent instances of medical neglect of handicapped
infants. State child abuse and neglect laws presently prohibit
neglect, including medical neglect, of children by their
parents or guardians. As discussed above, the essential duty
of recipient health care providers under Section 504 is to
provide the treatment which 1s medically indicated. This
corresponds with the responsibilities of parents or guardians
under State child abuse and neglect laws to provide medically
indicated treatment for their children.

) . | L1 L
of the HHS Office for Civil Rights in connection with Section
504 compliance by recipient health care providers paral. 1
thos of State child protective services agencies pursuant to

State child abuse and neglect laws.
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To facilitate effective coordination of the parallel
compliance activities, the proposed rule requires the
establishment by recipient child protective services agencies
of written methods of administration and procedures relating
their existing authorities and responsibilities pursuant to
State law to suspected cases of medical neglect of handicapped
infants. The primary provisions of the written methods of
administration and procedures correspond to tt essentf 1
elements of every State child protective services program:

(1) a duty on the part of medical professionals to report to
the agency suspected cases of child abuse and neglect; (2) a
mechanism for the State agency to receive reports on a
timely basis; (3) review and investigation of reports; and
(4) action through State courts to remedy or prevent a case
of child abuse or neglect.

To maximize coordination with the HHS Office for Civil
Rights, which will often hav received a re; :t of a suspected
violation of Section 504 in the same case as the State's
report of suspected medical neglect, the proposed rule would
also require Stat <child protective services agencies to
notify the Office for Civil Rights of the report it received,
the action it took, and its disposition of the case.

1 :s tl i iy Ly
ir »stigat | and pursued by Stat agenci 3, the Secretary
anticipates that additional federal efforts will often be

unnecessary. The Secretary will closely monitor all
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45 C.F.R. 80.6(c) as incorporated by 45 C.F.R. 84,61,
clearly states that, "asserted considerations of . . .
confidentiality may not operate to bar” the Department from
seeking access to sources of information. Thus, a reading of
the existing Section 504 regulations discloses a clear intent
that records kept by 1 :ipients | subject to disclosure to
ascertain compliance. The disclosure of records to ascertain
compliance is one of the requirements a recipient must comply
with to obtain and then continue to receive federal funding.
45 C.F.R. 80.8(a) as incorporated by 45 C.F.R. 84.61., The
Supreme Court has observed:

Disclosures of private medical information . . . to

public health agencies are often an essential part of
modern medical practice . « « « Requiring such disclosures
to representatives of the State having responsibility

for the health of the community does not automatically
amount to an impermissible invasion of privacy.

(Whalen v. Ree 429 U.S. 589, 602.)

The Department has for over a d :ade balanced its need
to gain access to medical information under the various ecivil
rights statutes it administers, including Section 504, with
the need to preserve confidentiality and it continues to be
sensitive to such concerns.

Information of a confidential nature obtained in

connection with compliance evaluation or enforcement
- - 3 - ,‘,41

In addition, the confidentiality of medical records
obtained in the course of a Section 504 investigation will be
prot :t 1 throt h nondisclosure under the Freedom of Information
Act; the deletion of patients"and parents' names and other

identifying information to the extent such deletion does not
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impede the Department's ability { ascert:’1 c¢ 111 nce; and
a special an& gseparate filing system maintained in locked files.

In regard to access to medical records, the Department
proposes only a limited modification of its existing ability
to gain access to such records to assure compliance with
Section 504.

45 C.F.R. 80.6(c), as referenced by 45 C.F.R. 84.61,
requires each recipient to permit access by Department
officials to facilities and info: 1tion pertinent to ascertaining
compliance with Section 504, during normal business hours.
Allegations of denial of food or other ecessary medical care
to handicapped infants may require an immediate effort to
ascertain compliance. The Department's proposed change
provides that access to records and facilities of recipients
shall not be limited to normal business hours when, in the
judgment of the responsible Departmental official, immediate
access is necessary to protect the life or health of a
handicapped individual.

The May 4, 1977, regulations of the Department regarding
Section 504 incorporate by reference the procedural provisions
applicable to Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964,

These procedures provide in part:

1ich

»

th
information regarding the provisions of this regulati n
and its applicability to the program for which the
recipient receives Federal financial assistance, and
make such information available to them in such manner,
as the responsible Department official finds necessary

> appris such persons of the protections against

discrimination assured them by the Act and this
regulation. (45 C.F.R. 80.6(d)).
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Federal enforcement action can also be taken against any
recipient that intimidates or retaliates against any person
who prt vides information concerning possib’ violations of
Section 504. 45 C.F.R. 80.7(e), as referenced by 45 C.F.R,
84,61, prohibits intimidatory or retaliatory acts by recipients
against individuals who make complaints or assist in
investigations concerning possible violatior of Section 504.
This provision fully protects individuals who make complaints
or assist in investigations concerning possible withholding
of food or other necessary medical care from handicapped infants.
This proposed regulation does not in any way change the
substantive obligations of health care providers previously
set forth in the statutory language of Sectic 504, in the
impleﬁenting regulations, and in the Notice to Health Care
Providers. The proposed regulation sets forth procedural
specifications designed (1) to specify a notice and complaint
procedure, within the context of the existing regulations,
and (2) to modify existing regulations to recognize the
exigent circumstances that may exist when a handicapped infant
is ¢ 11ed food or other necessary medical care.

pmments solicited. The Secretary seeks public comment

on all aspects of the proposed regulation a 1 on the appendix
! )

cited in t & appendl as clear violati( ; of Section 504 and
on additional situations that may represent clear violations
of Section 504. Comments will be considered and modifications

made, as appropriate, following the comment period.
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The Secretary also solicits comments on the following
questions:

l. Should recipients providing health care services to
infants be required to perform a self-evaluation, pursuant to
45 C.F.R. 84.6(c)(1), with respect to their policies and practices
concerning health services to handicapped infants?

2., Should such recipients be required to identify for
parents of handicapped children born in their facilities
those public and private agencies in the geographical vicinity
that provide services to handicapped infants?

3. Should recipients be required to institute i :ernal
review boards, such as were & !gested by the report of the
President's Commission for the Study of Ethical Problems in
Medicine and Biomedical and Behavioral Research, to review
cases where the parents and/or physician have decided to
withhold life-sustﬁining treatment? If so, should this be an
alternative or an addition to the requirements of the proposed
rule? 1If it is proposed to be an alternative, what procedures
should the Department follow to meet its responsibilities
under existing law and regulations to investigate complaints
and effect compliance with Section 504?

4, Sho (d existing procedures requiring prompt

relating to ! 1i1lth ire for handicapped infants be revis: ?
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If so, how should these investigations be conducted so as to
assure timely and effective investigations while minimizing
any disruptive impact on the hospital?

5. As indicated above, Section 504 requires that
medically beneficial treatment not be withheld on the basis
of handicap. Are there further explanations which would
assist health care providers and the public in understanding
the requirements of Section 504 in connection with health
care for handicapped infants?

6. Are there implications concerning cost and the
allocation of medical resources in requiring that medically
indicated treatment not be withheld from infants solely on
the basis of handicap which are different from the implications
inherent in all cases of determining the appropriate course
of treatment for patients? If so, what are examples of cases
where medically indicated treatment would, but for the legal
requirements of Section 504, be withheld? In such cases, is
cost or resource allocation the reason medically indicated
treatment would be withheld?

7. In balancing the interests of parents in deciding
matters relating to their children with the |{| terests of the
government in protecting the lives of all of its citizens, 1f
1 ¢ ] i

1staining, medic L] 1indicalt | treatment, what should the
dividing line be? 1Is there disagreement with the Department's
position that the fact that a handicapped infant may be

unwanted by parents due to perceived economic, emotional and



marital Efects does not justify the deprivation of life-
sustaining, medically indicated treatment?

8. In addition to the existing safeguards, explained
above, regarding the confidentiality of information obtained
by HHS in connection with c¢ivil rights investigations, are
there other safeguards which should be implemented?

9, Are there other alternative means for the Department
to meet its responsibilities to implement and enforce Section

504 in connection with health care for handicapped infants?

Regulatory impact analysis. This proposed rule has been

reviewed under ctecutive Order 12291. It is not a major rule
and thus does not require a regulatory impact analysis.

Regulatory flexihility analysis. The Regulatory Flexibility

Act (Pub.L. 96-354) requires the federal government to anticipate
and reduce the 1ﬁpact of rules and paperwork requirements on
small businesses and other small entities. This proposed
rule has no significant effect on small entities. Therefore,
a regulatory flexibility analysis is not required.

Paperwnrlt Rady~tinan Arr. Section 84.61(e) of this
proposed rule contains information collection requirements.
These requirements have been submitted to the Office of

11 ¢ 1 t )
of the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1980. Interest 1 parties
should direct their comments on the information collection

requirements contained in this proposed rule to the
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Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs, OMB, attention:
Desk Officer for the Office ¢ the Secretary, HHS, Room 3208,
New Executive Office Building, Washington, D. C. 20503,

List of Subjects in 45 CFR Part 84: Civil rights,

Education of Handicapped, Handicapped.

Approved:

b eakte

JN 20 1983 )

Date Marffaic. M. neckuier
Sedretry
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For the reasons set forth in the preamble, 45 C.F.R. 84.61 is
proposed to be amended by designating the existing provision
as paragraph (a) and by adding paragraphs (b),(c), (d) 2 1
(e) to read as follows:

§84.61 Procedures.

(a) * * %

(b) Pursuant to 45 C.F.R. 80.6(d), each récipient that
provides covered health care & :vices to infants shall post
and keep posted in a conspicuous p. :e in each nurses' station
with responsibility for each delivery ward, each maternity
ward, each pediatric ward, and each nursery, including each
intensive care nursery, the following notice, which shall be

no smaller than 8-1/2 by 11 inches:

DISCRIMINATORY FAILURE TO FEED AND CARE FOR
"HANDICAPPED INFANTS

IN THIS FACILITY IS PROHIBITED BY FEDERAL LAW

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 states that no
otherwise qualified handicapped individual shall, solely by
reason of handicap, be excluded from participation in, be
denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination

under any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance.

i tr¢ 1 having know :dge that a 1¢ 2ap 1 infant is

being discriminatorily denied food or customary medical care

should immediately contact:
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Handicapped Infant Hotline
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Washington, D. C. 20201
Phone: 800~--368-1019 (Available 24 hours a day)
or
Your State Child Protective Agency
Federal law prohibits retaliation or intimidation against any
person who provides information about possible violations of

the Rehabilitation Act of 1973,
Identity of callers will be held confidential.

Failure to feed and care for infants may also violate the

criminal and civil laws of your State.

(1) Recipients shall add to the notice, in type face or
handwriting, under the words "Your State Child Protective Agency,”
the identification of an appropriate State agency, with
address and telephone number. No other alterations shall be
made to such notice. |

(2) Copies of such notice may be obtai d on request

from the Department of Health and Human Services.

(c¢) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (a), the

rec (1 nent of !¢ . : ,

the judgment of the responsible Depart: 1t official, immediate
remedial action 1is necessary to protect the life or health

of a handicapped individual.



(d) Notwithstand/ j the provi ~ 1s of par:¢ :aph (a), access
to pertinent records and facilities of a recipient pursuant
to 45 C.F.R. 80.6(c) shall not be limited to normal business
hours when, in the judgment of the responsible Department
official, immediate access is necessary to protect the life
or health of a handicapped individual.

(e) Within 60 days of the effective date of this subsection,
each recipient State child protective services agency shall

establish and maj tain written methods of administration and

procedures to assure that the agency utilizes its full authority

pursuant to state law to prevent instances of medical neglect
of handicapped infants. These methods of administration and
procedures shall include:
(1) A requirement that health care providers report
immediately to the State agency suspected cases of medical
neglect of handicapped infants;
(2) A method by which the agency c: receive reports of

suspected medical neglect of handicapped infants from

health care providers, other individuals, and the Department

on a timely basis;
(3) Immediate review of reports of suspected medical

neglect of handicapped infants and, where appropriate, on-

(4) Provie >n of child protective services to medically

neglected handicapped infants, including, where appropriate,

seeking a timely court order to compel the ﬁrovision of

ressary nourishment and medical tre¢ tm at; and
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(5) Immediate notification to the Department's Office

for Civil Rights of each report of suspected medical

neglect of a handicapped infant, the steps taken by the

agency to investigate such report, and the agency's

final dispositon of such report.



APEF IDIX

Applicability ¢f faction 504 to "~"1e Provision of Health Care

to Handicapped Infan~ -

By a notice to Health Care Providers dated May 18, 1982,

the Department reminded hospitals that Section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794) applies to
the provisions of health care services to handicapped infants
in programs or activities which receive federal financial
assistance. Regulations in effect since 1977 have applied
Section 504 to providers of he h services. (45 C.F.R.
Sections 84.51-52). The protections of Section 504 apply to

all handicapped persons without regard to age.

The following comments are intended to explain the manner in
which Section 504 applies to the provision of health care

services to handicapped infants.

The Notice to Health Care Providers of May 18, 1982, explained
that under Section 504 "it is unlawful for a recipient of
federal financial assistance to withhold from a handicapped
infant nutritional sustenance or medical or surgical treatment

required to correct a life-threatening condition, if:

v 0t b on the { ct th:

inf 1t is t 1dicapr 1; and
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(2) the handicap does not render the treatment or

nutritional sustenance medically contraindicated.”

The Secretary's experience in enforcing this standard, along
with comments received by the Department, suggest a need to

clarify in what situations Section 504 does and does not apply.

Section 504 is in essence an equal treatment, nondiscrimination
standard. Congress patterned Sec .on 504 on Title VI of the
Civil Rights Act, which prohibits discrimination based on race.
Programs or activities receiving federal financial assistance

may not deny a benefit or service solely on grounds of a person's
handicap, just as they may not deny a benefit or service on

grounds o0 a person's race.

Regulations governing federally assisted programs or activities
of health care providers implement the nondiscrimination
approach of Section 504 by stating that "a recipient may

not, on the basis of handicap ... (d)eny a qualified handi-
capped person these benefits or services ...." 45 C.F.R.

Section 84.52(a).

Section 504 applies when (1) a handicapped person is qualified
1
program or activity and (2) these benefits or services are

denied because of the person's handicap.

In the context of health care services provided to handicapped
infants, a handicapped infant is qualified to receive those

benefits and services that are (1) generally provided by the
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program or activity, and (2) are appropriate, in the exercise
of reasonable medical judgment, to the circumstances of the

particular handicapped infant.

Section 504 does not intrude upon legitimate medical judgment.
A handicapped infant is not "qualified™ to receive medical care
or treatment that is contrary to reasonable medical judgment --

i.e., "medically contraindicated.”

Not all judgments made by a health care provider, however, are
medical judgments. For example, a judgment not to treat

black infant because of the infant's race is not a medical
judgment. A judgment not to treat a physical complication in

a Down's Syndrome infant because the infant suffers the handicap

of Down's syndrome is likewise not a medical judgment.

The Secretary does not interpret Section 504 to apply to any
case In which care or treatment is withheld on the basis of
legitimate medical judgment. If a particular form of treatment
is of dublous Qedical benefit to the patient or if the patient
could not long survive even with the treatment, reasonable
medical judgment could withhold the treatment, and Section 504
does not require that the treatment be given. Section 504 does
not compel medical personnel to attempt to perform impossible

or futile acit ¢t therapies. Thus, Section 504 dc¢ 3 not require
the imposition of futile therapies which merely temporarily pro-

long the process of dying of an infant born terminally 1i1ll.
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For example,'a child born with 1encephaly will inevitably die
within a short span of time; therefore, trt :ment to correct
life-threatening complications may be withheld. Such withholding
is on the basis of the legitimate medical jud; :nt that the child
would die imminently even with the treatment. The decision to
withhold treatment is therefore not based on handicap, and is not

prohibited by Section 504,

Also, a decision to withhold extraordinary care from an extremely
low-birthweight infant does not implicate Section 504 if the
decision is based on a reasonable medical judgment concerning
improbability of success in a course of treatment, or risks and

potential harm in the course of treatment.

At the same time, the basic provision of nourishment, fluids,
and routine nursing care is a fundamental matter of human
dignity, not an option for medical judgment. Even if a handi-
capped infant faces imminent and unavoidable death, no health
care provider should take upon itself to cause death by star-
vation or dehydration. Routine nursing care to provide comfort
and ¢~ 2anliness is required to respect the dignity of such

an infant. To deny these forms of basic care to handicapped
individuals would constitute discrimination contrary to Section

504,

For those handicapped infants, on the other hand, who could live

if given treatment for a life-threatening congenital anomaly, any
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decision to withhold treatment which is based on th infant's
handicap rather than on a medical judgment, constitutes dis-
crimination contrary to Section 504, Section 504 prohibits

any denial of benefits or services because of a handicap such

as mental retardation, blindness, paralysis, deafness, or lack
of limbs. Any judgment that a person is not worthy of treatment
due to such handicap is not, of course, a medical judgment, even

if made by doctors within a medical facility.

A clear violation of Section 504 occurs if a federally assisted
program or activity denies a benefit or service to a handicapped
inf: ¢t that would be provided but for the individual's handicap.
The Secretary deems the following to be examples == not a com-
prehensive list == of denials of treatment that constitute a
violation of Section 504:
(1) Down's Syndrome with intestinal obstruction, denial

of surgery to correct obstruction. Current medical

practice in the United States is to correct intestinal

atresia in infants with no other congenital anomaly.

See 60 Pediatrics 588, 591 (1977). Any decision not

to correct intestinal atresia in a Down's Syndrome
child, unless an additional complication medically
warrants such decision, must be deemed a denial of

§ :vices based ¢ tI 't 1i ap ywn '

v ,
The same reasoning applies to a case of Down's

Syndrome with esophogeal atresia, and the denial of



(2)

(3)
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surge ' to correct atresia. Any refusal to give
treatment to a Down's Syndrome infant fof\other
physical complications, such as operable heart

defects, if such complications would be treated
for children without Down's Syndrome, similarly

constitutes a violation of Section 504,

Denial of care or treatment that would be given to
a non-handicapped infant, on grounds that a par-
ticular infant is potentially mentally impaired, or

blind, or deaf, or paralyzed, or lacking limbs.

Denial of treatment for medically correctable physical
anomalies in children born with Spina Bifida, when

such denial is based on anticipated mental impairment,
paralysis, or incontinence of such child, rather than

on reasonable medical judgments that treatment would

be futile or too unlikely of success given complications

in the particular case.
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THE WHITE HOUSE

WASHINGTON

July 8, 1983

Dear Mrs. Gaylord:

On behalf of President Reagan, I want to thank you for your
message.

The President welcomes the thoughts of all Americans as he
seeks to formulate policies in the best interest of our
nation. Your suggestions have been carefully noted.

Your comments regarding "~ ortion are particularly appreci-
ated. The President has spoken out forcefully on this
issue. Recently, he set forth his views at length in an
article he wrote for the spring 1983 i sue of The Human Life
Review. I am enclosing a copy of this statement which I
know you will find of interest.

As you know, a Federal District judge issued a ruling on
"April 14, 1983 enjoining the regulations published by the
Administration to protect the right of handicapped infants
to appropriate medical treatment in facilities receiving
Federal support. The judge ruled that we must go through
additional administrative procedures before these regula-
tions can be put into effect. We are moving expeditiously
to publish a new regulation for public comment, at the same
time that we appeal tl judge's decision.

I can assure you that the Administration is determined to

protect the lives of handicapped children and the unborn,

and the President will continue to "fight it out" on these
issues during his time in office.



Regarding the other matter you mentioned, I have taken
liberty of forwarding your message to the appropriate
government officials for their consideration.

With the President's best wishes,

Sincerely,

Anne Higgins
Special Assistant to the President
and Director of Correspondence

Mrs. Grace M. Gaylord
R.D. 2, Box 335
West Winfield, NY 13491

the















POINT SHEET IN OPPOSTTION TO WAXMAN AMENDMENT
TO H.R. 3021, HEALTH JNSURANCF FOR THE UNEMPLOYED

e The Waxman amendment, because it is so badly drafted, would effectively

v~quire cover=ce of elective abortions under the Health Insurance for the Un-

employed Act (H.R. 3021).
e Though it purports to cover only abortions for women who become pregnant

as a result of rape or incest, it makes no distinction between forcible and

statutory rape. Thus, any teenage dependent of an individual covered under the

new program who becomes pregnant will have her abortion paid for.

e The Waxman amendment contains no provision that the irrident of rape or

incest be reported to public health or law enforcement authorities. Any pregnant
woman covered under the plan could get her abortion paid for by claiming her preé-
nancy was due to rape or incest.

® The lack of reporting requirements would make the Waxman amendment

unenforceable. State and federal agencies will be unable to determine whether

claims filed by. abortionists were legitimate.

*In effect, if the Waxman amendment prevails, anyone eligible for
this program could have an abortion at the local clinic, simply by
claiming rape. The clinic would explain that the abortion would be paid for
by the government only if pregnancy results from rape or incest (or to
save the mother's ‘1life). So were you raped, young lady? Answer: yes.

1 . 1 T

tell HHS that we want X amount of money for X number of abortions, so
many the result of rape, so many the result of incest. That's what the
patients said! And HHS will immediately be under court order to pay those

bills.





